
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

WESTERN DIVISION (at Cincinnati) 

 

JEFF DALY      :     Case No.  

3460 Sandralin Drive 

Cincinnati, Ohio 45247    : 

 

AND       : 

 

CHRIS JARVIS     : 

7564 Boleyn Dr., Apt. 2     

Cincinnati, Ohio 45239    : 

  

 Plaintiffs     :      

 

v.       : 

 

SHERIFF JIM NEIL (in his official capacity) : 

1000 Sycamore Street, Room 110    

Cincinnati, Ohio 45202    : 

 

AND       : 

 

Lt. CLINT ARNOLD, Post Commander (in his : 

official capacity) 

Ohio State Highway Patrol    : 

5791 Creek Road      

Cincinnati, Ohio 45242    : 

 

AND       : 

 

Hon. JOSEPH T DETERS (in his official  : 

capacity as the Hamilton County Prosecutor) 

230 E. Ninth Street, Suite 4000   : 

Cincinnati, OH 45202 

       : 

 Defendants      

       : 

ALSO SERVE:      

       : 

 Hon. Mike Dewine     

 Ohio Attorney General   : 

 30 East Broad Street, 14th Floor   

 Columbus, Ohio 43215   : 
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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, 

COSTS, AND ATTORNEY FEES FOR CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS 

 

 Plaintiffs Jeff Daly and Chris Jarvis, by and through counsel, for their Complaint for 

Declaratory and Injunctive Relief, Costs, and Attorney Fees for Constitutional Violations (the 

“Complaint”) against Jim Neal, in his official capacity as the Sherriff of Hamilton County, Ohio 

and Lt. Clint Arnold, in his official capacity as a Post Commander of the Ohio State Police 

(together, the “Defendants”), state and allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1.  This is an action involving the continued and threatened deprivation of the Second and 

Fourteenth Amendment rights of Mr. Daly and Mr. Jarvis by Defendants.  Specifically this 

action challenges, on both a limited facial and as-applied basis, Ohio Revised Code 

2923.16(A), (B), and (C), as well as Ohio Revised Code 2923.125(B)(1)’s imposition of a 

fee.   

2. Specifically, this action challenges Ohio’s unconstitutional restriction (i) requiring that a 

person, not otherwise disqualified under state or federal law generally from owning, 

possessing, and bearing a firearm, obtain a concealed carry license in order to possess a 

loaded firearm in a person’s private automobile for the purposes of self-defense; (ii) 

imposing a non-waiveable fee in order to obtain such a license, generally and as-applied to 

indigent person(s) such as Mr. Jarvis; and (iii) prohibiting the discharge of a firearm from a 

motor vehicle as provided in Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(A) in cases of self-defense by 

persons, not otherwise disqualified under state or federal law generally from owning, 

possessing, and bearing a firearm.1 

                                                           
1 To be clear, and for the avoidance of all doubt, this Complaint seeks purely declaratory and 

injunctive relief, within the ambit of Ex Parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908). 
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PARTIES 

Plaintiffs 

3. Plaintiff Jeff Daly is a resident and citizen of Hamilton County, Ohio, and resides at 3640 

Sandralin Drive, located in Colerain Township, Cincinnati, Ohio.  Mr. Daly is an honorably 

discharged United States Marine Corps veteran, and, in connection with that service, 

qualified on both the pistol and rife.   

4. Mr. Daly meets and complies with the requirements set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 922(g) in that he 

is qualified under federal law to own, purchase, possess and bear firearms and meets none of 

the disqualifications under that section.  Mr. Daly actually owns firearms.  Further, Mr. Daly 

is not disqualified from owning, purchasing, possessing, and bearing firearms under Ohio 

Revised Code 2923.13. 

5. Mr. Daly is married, with small children, and there have been robberies and other acts of 

violence committed in the vicinity of his neighborhood and stores in his neighborhood. 

6. Mr. Daly, but for the requirement of the fee contained in Ohio Revised Code 2923.125(B)(1), 

would obtain a concealed carry license to have a firearm, specifically a pistol, on his person, 

particularly while driving in his vehicle that he owns, to protect himself and his family. 

7. But for the prohibitions in Ohio Revised Code 2923.16 (B) and (C), Mr. Daly would carry a 

loaded firearm, specifically a pistol, on his person, in his private vehicle strictly for the 

purpose of defending himself and his family from violent criminals.  Mr. Daly has not done 

so to date because he legitimately fears prosecution and arrest for doing so.    

8. Furthermore, but for the provisions in Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(A), if threatened with 

deadly force, Mr. Daly would discharge that firearm in self-defense in his own vehicle.  Mr. 

Daly legitimately fears prosecution and arrest should he do so.  
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9. Specifically, Mr. Daly, who regularly travels the highways and public streets within 

Hamilton County, Ohio in his automobile, would engage in the aforementioned acts in his 

vehicle but for the challenged statutory provisions.  

10. Plaintiff Chris Jarvis is a resident and citizen of Hamilton County, Ohio, and resides at 7564 

Boleyn Drive, Apartment 2, located in the White Oak area of Cincinnati, Ohio.   

11. Mr. Jarvis is disabled and wheel chair bound.  His disability qualifies him for social security 

benefits.  Mr. Jarvis is also indigent.  He has limited mobility and use of his legs, but does 

have full mobility and use of his hands.  On several occasions, Mr. Jarvis has been assaulted 

and been forcibly thrown from his wheel chair on several occasions by criminals.  There have 

been robberies and other acts of violence committed in the vicinity of his neighborhood and 

stores in his neighborhood. 

12. Mr. Jarvis meets and complies with the requirements set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 922(g) in that 

he is qualified under federal law to own, purchase, possess and bear firearms and meets none 

of the disqualifications under that section.  Mr. Jarvis owns firearms and is not disqualified 

from owning, purchasing, possessing, and bearing firearms under Ohio Revised Code 

2923.13. 

13. Mr. Jarvis, but for the requirement of the fee contained in Ohio Revised Code 

2923.125(B)(1), would obtain a concealed carry license to have a firearm, specifically a 

pistol, on his person, particularly while driving in his vehicle that he owns, to protect himself. 

14. But for the prohibitions in Ohio Revised Code 2923.16 (B) and (C), Mr. Jarvis would carry a 

loaded firearm, specifically a pistol, on his person and in his private vehicle strictly for the 

purpose of defending himself from violent criminals.  He has not done so to date because he 

legitimately fears prosecution and arrest for doing so.  
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15. Furthermore, but for the provisions in Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(A), if threatened with 

deadly force, Mr. Jarvis would discharge that firearm in self-defense in private vehicles.  He 

legitimately fears prosecution and arrest should he do so.   

16. Specifically, Mr. Jarvis, who regularly travels the highways and public streets within 

Hamilton County, Ohio in his automobile, would engage in the aforementioned acts in his 

vehicle but for the challenged statutory provisions.  

Defendants 

17. Defendants Hon. Jim Neil is the duly elected and incumbent Sheriff of Hamilton County, 

Ohio.  He is statutorily charged under Ohio Revised Code 311.07 with preserving the public 

peace and enforcing the laws of the State of Ohio in Hamilton County, Ohio.  Furthermore, 

pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 2935.03, he is empowered to arrest persons who violate the 

laws in Hamilton County, Ohio.  Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 2923.125, Sherriff Neil is 

statutorily charged with processing concealed carry applications, including the imposition of 

the fee that is charged under Ohio Revised Code 2923.125(B)(1). 

18. In addition to the foregoing, Sheriff Neil, directly or through his deputies and staff, acting 

with his authority, has actually enforced Ohio Revised Code 2923.125(B)(1) by charging the 

fee in question.  Furthermore, Sheriff Neil, directly or through his deputies and staff, has 

actually charged individuals in criminal cases with violations of Ohio Revised Code 2923.16 

(A) (B) and (C) and his office regularly enforces those sections.  Violation of Ohio Revised 

Code 2923.16(A) and (B) are felonies of the fourth degree pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 

2923.16(I).  Violation of Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(C) is a misdemeanor of the fourth 

degree. 
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19. Defendant Lt. Clint Arnold is the post commander for the Hamilton County post of the Ohio 

State Highway Patrol.  Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 5503.02, the State Highway Patrol 

enforces the laws of the State of Ohio, including  Ohio Revised Code 2923.16 (A) (B) and 

(C), including the power to arrest and charge person(s) with committing those offenses. 

20. In addition to the foregoing, Lt. Arnold, directly or through troopers he supervises and/or 

commands, has actually charged individuals in criminal cases with violations of Ohio 

Revised Code 2923.16 (A) (B) and (C) and his office regularly enforces those sections.  

Violation of Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(A) and (B) are felonies of the fourth degree 

pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(I).  Violation of Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(C) is a 

misdemeanor of the fourth degree. 

21. Defendant, Hon. Joe Deters, is the duly elected Prosecutor for Hamilton County, Ohio.  

Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 309.08(A), the Prosecutor is charged with prosecuting all 

crimes, with certain enumerated exceptions not applicable here, charged by law enforcement 

officers for crimes committed within Hamiltin County, Ohio. 

22.  In addition to the foregoing, Mr. Deters, directly or through Assistant Prosecutors, he 

supervises and/or commands, has actually charged individuals in criminal cases with 

violations of Ohio Revised Code 2923.16 (A) (B) and (C) and his office regularly enforces 

those sections.  Violation of Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(A) and (B) are felonies of the 

fourth degree pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(I).  Violation of Ohio Revised Code 

2923.16(C) is a misdemeanor of the fourth degree. 

23. The Ohio Attorney General, Hon. Mike DeWine, is not named as a party, but is served 

pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 2721.12(A) and FRCP 5.1(2). 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

24. Subject matter jurisdiction over the claims and causes of action asserted by Plaintiffs is 

conferred on this Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983, 42 U.S.C. §1988, 28 U.S.C. §1331, 28 

U.S.C. §1343, 28 U.S.C. §§2201 and 2202, and other applicable law. 

25. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because each of them is domiciled 

within the State of Ohio.  

26. Venue in this District and division is proper, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 and other 

applicable law, because all of the deprivations of Plaintiffs’ Constitutional Rights occurred in 

Hamilton County, Ohio, and future deprivations of their Constitutional Rights are threatened 

and likely to occur in this District.  Specifically, Plaintiffs have legitimate expectation and 

fear of arrest and/or prosecution by Defendants in Hamilton County, Ohio.  The facts and 

occurrences that give rise to this Complaint, all occurred in Hamilton County, Ohio.  

Furthermore, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(c), and L.R. 82.1(e), Defendants perform their 

duties and are believed to reside in the Western Division of this District Court.  Furthermore, 

a substantial portion of the events and deprivations at issue occurred in the Western Division 

of the Southern District of Ohio. 

FACTS AND HISTORICAL BACKDROP TO ALL CLAIMS 

27. On or about May 16, 2018, Plaintiffs attempted to apply for a concealed carry license without 

the payment of the fee required in Ohio Revised Code 2923.125(B)(1) informing the 

representative of the Sheriff’s office that they desired to have firearms in their vehicles to 

defend themselves.  They were informed by the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office, that the 

fee could not and would not be waived unless the applicants were law enforcement officers 

or retired officers. 
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28. Plaintiffs desire to engage in activities presently prohibited by Ohio Revised Code 

2923.16(B) and (C), but legitimately fear arrest and prosecution if they do so.  Specifically, 

they would carry and bear, on their persons, loaded firearms for the purpose of self defense. 

29. Furthermore, while in their vehicles, if threatened with deadly force from criminals, Plaintiffs 

would discharge their firearms in self-defense, in contravention of Ohio Revised Code 

2923.16(A).  They legitimately fear arrest and prosecution if they do so. 

The Challenged Provisions 

30. Ohio Revised Code 2923.125(B)(1) provides, in relevant part, that “An applicant for a 

license who resides in another state shall submit a completed application form and all of the 

material and information described in divisions (B)(1) to (7) of this section to the sheriff of 

the county in which the applicant is employed or to the sheriff of any county adjacent to the 

county in which the applicant is employed: (1)(a) A nonrefundable license fee as described in 

either of the following: (i) For an applicant who has been a resident of this state for five or 

more years, a fee of sixty-seven dollars;”2 

31. Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(A) provides: “No person shall knowingly discharge a firearm 

while in or on a motor vehicle.” 

32. Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(B) provides: “No person shall knowingly transport or have a 

loaded firearm in a motor vehicle in such a manner that the firearm is accessible to the 

operator or any passenger without leaving the vehicle.” 

                                                           
2 There is a fee waiver provision, but not for indigency.  Rather, such fees are waived for: “(c) A 

sheriff shall waive the payment of the license fee described in division (B)(1)(a) of this section in 

connection with an initial or renewal application for a license that is submitted by an applicant 

who is a retired peace officer, a retired person described in division (B)(1)(b) of section 109.77 

of the Revised Code, or a retired federal law enforcement officer who, prior to retirement, was 

authorized under federal law to carry a firearm in the course of duty, unless the retired peace 

officer, person, or federal law enforcement officer retired as the result of a mental disability.” 
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33. Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(C) provides: “No person shall knowingly transport or have a 

firearm in a motor vehicle, unless the person may lawfully possess that firearm under 

applicable law of this state or the United States, the firearm is unloaded, and the firearm is 

carried in one of the following ways: (1) In a closed package, box, or case; (2) In a 

compartment that can be reached only by leaving the vehicle; (3) In plain sight and secured 

in a rack or holder made for the purpose;  (4) If the firearm is at least twenty-four inches in 

overall length as measured from the muzzle to the part of the stock furthest from the muzzle 

and if the barrel is at least eighteen inches in length, either in plain sight with the action open 

or the weapon stripped, or, if the firearm is of a type on which the action will not stay open or 

which cannot easily be stripped, in plain sight.”  

34. Ohio Revised Code 2923.16 (F)(5) provides: “Divisions (B) and (C) of this section do not 

apply to a person who transports or possesses a handgun in a motor vehicle if, at the time of 

that transportation or possession, both of the following apply: (a) The person transporting or 

possessing the handgun is either carrying a valid concealed handgun license or is an active 

duty member of the armed forces of the United States and is carrying a valid military 

identification card and documentation of successful completion of firearms training that 

meets or exceeds the training requirements described in division (G)(1) of section 2923.125 

of the Revised Code; (b) The person transporting or possessing the handgun is not knowingly 

in a place described in division (B) of section 2923.126 of the Revised Code.” 

Allegations relating to the claims at issue 

35. Plaintiffs are citizens of the United States of America. 
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36. Plaintiffs have clearly established rights and protections under the United States Constitution 

and its statutes to the Right to Keep and Bear Arms, without infringement, and other Second 

Amendment guarantees.   

37. The Fourteenth Amendment likewise has guarantees of due process. 

38. Defendants, using their respective offices and acting under color of state law, violated and 

are violating Plaintiffs’ Second and Fourteenth Amendment Rights, which have deprived, are 

depriving, and will deprive them of their rights guaranteed to them under the Second and 

Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, which rights are clearly 

established. Defendants thereby subjected themselves under 42 U.S.C. §1983, to prospective 

injunctive relief and declaratory relief under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201, et seq. 

39. Defendants abused the authority of their respective offices and, while acting under color of 

law and with knowledge of Plaintiffs’ established rights, used their offices to violate their 

Second and Fourteenth Amendment rights. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

Count I – Second Amendment Violation – Facially and As-Applied 

 

40. Plaintiffs hereby reincorporate the preceding paragraphs of their Complaint as if fully set 

forth herein. 

41. The Second Amendment to the United States Constitution states, in relevant part: “the right 

of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed.” 

42. In District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 592 (2008), the United States Supreme Court 

determined that the Second Amendment conferred an “individual right to possess and carry 

weapons in case of confrontation.”  The Court likewise found that the possession of 
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handguns was protected under the Second Amendment, particularly for purposes of self-

defense. 

43. In McDonald v. City of Chicago, 561 U.S. 742 (2010), the Supreme Court found that the 

rights guaranteed by the Second Amendment were applicable to the states through the 

Fourteenth Amendment. 

44. Under Tyler v. Hillsdale County Sheriff's Dep't, 837 F.3d 678 (6th Cir. 2016), since Plaintiffs 

are law abiding persons who desire to possess loaded firearms for the purpose of self-

defense, particularly in private property and on their persons, their rights are at the core of 

Second Amendment protection and any restriction, limitation, or attenuation of these rights 

by Defendants invokes strict scrutiny. 

45. The challenged provisions are not narrowly tailored to meet a compelling state interest; in the 

alternative, the challenged provisions do not further a significant, substantial, or important 

objective, and there is not a reasonable fit between the challenged regulation and the asserted 

objective. 

46. Furthermore, “[a] state may not impose a charge for the enjoyment of a right granted by the 

Federal Constitution."  Murdock v. Pennsylvania, 319 U.S. 105, 113 (1943). 

47. As such, the challenged statutes are unconstitutional under the Second Amendment. 

Count II – Fourteenth Amendment – Equal Protection and Due Process – Facially and As-

Applied 

 

48. Plaintiffs hereby reincorporate the preceding paragraphs of their Complaint as if fully set 

forth herein. 

49. The Fourteenth Amendment provides, in relevant part, that “nor shall any State deprive any 

person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within 

its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” 
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50. Ohio, pursuant to Ohio Revised Code 2923.125(B)(1)(a), requires the payment of a fee of 

$67 to obtain a license to concealed carry, which in turn is required to have or possess a 

loaded firearm in a vehicle period under  Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(B) and (C). 

51. At the same time, Ohio exempts law enforcement officers and retired law enforcement 

officers from this fee under Ohio Revised Code 2923.125(B)(1)(c). 

52. This disparity in charges in the exercise of a fundamental right, and essential inability of 

indigent person(s) to be exempted from it, violates the Equal Protection and Due Process 

Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment.  M.L.B. v. S.L.J., 519 U.S. 102 (1996); Williams v. 

Ill., 399 U.S. 235 (1970); Boddie v. Connecticut, 401 U.S. 371 (1971); San Antonio Indep. 

Sch. Dist. v. Rodriguez, 411 U.S. 1 (1973); Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 592; McDonald, 561 U.S. 

742. 

53. There is no compelling governmental interest in waiving these fees for law enforcement and 

retired law enforcement officers; furthermore, there is no compelling governmental interest 

in charging these fees generally.  Nor is the imposition of these fees narrowly tailored to 

meeting the governmental interest in question.  In the alternative, this scheme does not meet 

intermediate scrutiny. 

54. The provisions in question are unconstitutionally, both facially, and as-applied to indigent 

person(s) such as Mr. Jarvis. 

55. The statutory disparity in, and charging of a fee to exercise the fundamental right of self-

defense in a vehicle, violates the Equal Protection Clause and Due Process Clauses of the 

Fourteenth Amendment. 
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RELIEF SOUGHT 

56. Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief, and prospective injunctive relief under 42 U.S.C. §1983 and 

28 U.S.C. §§2201 and 2202: 

a. declaring the fee established in Ohio Revised Code 2923.125(B)(1) as 

unconstitutional facially/as applied to law abiding persons, including indigent 

person(s) such as Mr. Jarvis, seeking licenses for the purposes of carrying loaded 

firearms in their vehicles for purposes of self-defense and enjoining the enforcement 

of same; 

b. declaring Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(A) unconstitutional facially and/or as-applied 

to the discharge of a firearm in or on a motor vehicle in self-defense, and enjoining 

the enforcement of same;  

c. declaring Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(B) unconstitutional facially and/or as-applied 

to law abiding person(s), including the Plaintiffs, who seek to carry firearms/pistols 

on their persons and inside their vehicles for the purposes of self-defense, and 

enjoining the enforcement of same; and/or 

d. declaring Ohio Revised Code 2923.16(C) unconstitutional facially and/or as-applied 

to law abiding person(s), including the Plaintiffs, who seek to carry firearms/pistols 

on their persons and inside their vehicles for the purposes of self-defense, and 

enjoining the enforcement of same. 

57. Plaintiffs further seek their costs and reasonable attorney fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendants as prayed for, including: 
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A. That this Court issue declaratory relief declaring the challenged statutes unconstitutional, 

facially, or as-applied to the activities set forth herein that Plaintiffs have engaged in, and 

seek to engage in; 

B. That this Court enter a preliminary injunction to enjoin enforcement of the offending 

statutes, either facially or as applied; 

C. That this Court award permanent injunctive relief, prohibiting the further enforcement of 

the offending statutes, either facially or as applied; 

D. That Plaintiffs be awarded their costs in this action, including reasonable attorney fees 

under 42 U.S.C. §1988; and 

E. Such other relief as this Court shall deem just and proper. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

      /s/Christopher Wiest__________ 

      Christopher Wiest (OH 0077931) 

      9380 Montgomery Road, Suite 202 

      Cincinnati, Ohio 45242 

      513-257-1895 (v) 

      859-495-0803 (f) 

      chris@cwiestlaw.com 

 

      /s/Thomas Bruns_____________ 

      Thomas Bruns (OH 0051212) 

      4750 Ashwood Dr., Suite 200 

      Cincinnati, Ohio 45243 

      513-312-9890 (v) 

      Tbruns@bcvalaw.com 

       

      /s/Robert A. Winter, Jr.________ 

      Robert A. Winter, Jr. (OH 0038673) 

      PO Box 175883 

      Ft. Mitchell, KY 41017 

      859-250-3337 

      robertawinterjr@gmail.com 

 

      Counsel for Plaintiffs 
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